**RECEIVED**

**May 25 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS  
ROBERT BONDS, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

---

Appellate Case No. 2021-001337

---

IN THE MATTER OF: Estate of Paul Brandon Barringer II

Hampton Barringer Luzak, ..... Appellant,

v.

Merrill U. Barringer, ..... Respondent,

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Desa Ballard (S.C. Bar No. 498)  
226 State Street  
West Columbia, South Carolina 29169  
Telephone 803.796.9299  
Facsimile 803.796.1066  
desab@desaballard.com

James R. Gilreath (S.C. Bar No. 02133)  
William M. Hogan (S.C. Bar No. 65272)

## NATURE OF THE ACTION

These complex cases arise out of the undisclosed transfer of controlling stock in Coastal Forest Resources Company (“CFRC”), a privately-held and family-controlled corporation incorporated in Virginia and headquartered in Florida. CFRC is not a party to this case. The disputed stock transfer involves a purported gift of CFRC voting stock in late 2012 from Paul Barringer, the now-deceased husband of defendant Merrill U. Barringer (“Ms. Barringer”) and the parent, along with Ms. Barringer, of appellant Hampton B. Luzak (“Ms. Luzak”), defendant Merrill B. Light, and non-party Victor Barringer. At the time of the stock transfer, Paul Barringer was suffering from Alzheimer’s disease. The purported gift from the ailing Paul Barringer to Merrill Light resulted in Ms. Light ostensibly owning 51% of the voting stock in CFRC, thereby giving her control over the corporation. Prior to the 2012 voting stock transfer, Paul Barringer and Ms. Barringer had always treated their two daughters equally in terms of gifts of various assets including stock in CFRC. The purported transfer by Paul Barringer of the controlling interest in CFRC exclusively to Merrill Light represented a dramatic change in the pattern of family giving by Paul Barringer.

In related and consolidated actions filed in 2016, Ms. Luzak seeks damages from her sister, Merrill Light and her sister’s husband and defendant Randy Light<sup>1</sup> for the improper transfer of controlling stock and other assets from Paul Barringer’s revocable trust to Merrill Light on the grounds of intentional interference with inheritance, civil conspiracy, and other related causes of action. Ms. Luzak has also asserted claims to rescind the stock transfer and to set aside amendments to the will and revocable trust of Paul Barringer occurring after the onset of Paul Barringer’s dementia on the grounds of undue influence and fraud committed by the

---

<sup>1</sup> Randy Light died on March 16, 2020.

defendants Merrill and Randy Light on Paul Barringer, as well as lack of mental capacity of Paul Barringer. Ms. Luzak named Ms. Barringer as a defendant in Ms. Barringer's capacity as personal representative of the estate of Paul Barringer.

In 2019 Ms. Luzak filed this action naming her mother Merrill U. Barringer individually as a defendant asserting causes of action for intentional interference with inheritance, two causes of action involving the purported testamentary powers of appointment associated with Paul Barringer's trusts, attorney fees and costs, and civil conspiracy. Ms. Barringer argued that the decedent Paul Barringer (Decedent) had given her a special testamentary power of appointment over assets in his revocable trust — the critical asset being voting control stock — and moved for summary judgment on Ms. Luzak's second and third causes of action involving Ms. Barringer's purported testamentary powers of appointment. In those causes of action, Ms. Luzak argued that (1) Ms. Barringer does not have a power to appoint voting stock owned by Paul Barringer in the company, and (2) even if she does, she was precluded from such an appointment because of a promise by her to Paul Barringer, enforceable by (a) a binding contract not to revoke her will that did not exercise the power, (b) a promise based on her fiduciary and confidential relationship, and/or (c) equitable/promissory estoppel.

In an order filed on November 4, 2020, the Honorable Carmen Mullen denied Ms. Barringer's motion for summary judgment.<sup>2</sup> Ms. Barringer did not file a motion to reconsider. Judge Mullen recused herself from the case on February 19, 2021. On June 14, 2021, Ms. Barringer once again sought to obtain summary judgment on the second and third causes of action. This time around, on August 20, 2021, the Honorable Robert Bonds granted Ms.

---

<sup>2</sup> While denying Ms. Barringer's motion for summary judgment, Judge Mullen subsequently ordered the bifurcation and trial of the second and third causes of action. That bifurcation order is being separately appealed (see Appellate Case Nos. 2021-001022 and 2021-000837).

Barringer's motion for summary judgment on the very same causes of action that were before Judge Mullen when she previously denied summary judgment.

By granting Ms. Barringer's motion for summary judgment on the second and third causes of action in the 2019 cases, Judge Bonds, who had only recently been appointed to preside over this case on July 23, 2021, effectively reversed the prior denial of the very same summary judgment motion, and the very same arguments, by Judge Mullen, who had been presiding over this case, designated as complex, and who had been deeply involved in all aspects of this complex case, for approximately four years. Judge Bonds reversed Judge Mullen even though *Ms. Luzak had no less evidence*<sup>3</sup> for this repeat summary judgment motion than she had when Judge Mullen denied exactly the same (prior) summary judgment motion on November 4, 2020. Nor has the law changed since November 4, 2020. This is a summary judgment motion: all Ms. Luzak has to do is produce a sufficient amount of evidence — a minimal amount under the law — to survive summary judgment. If Ms. Luzak had a sufficient amount of evidence to create a genuine issue of material fact in the prior summary judgment, she has a sufficient amount now, without the need to second-guess Judge Mullen.<sup>4</sup> According to Judge Bonds, Ms.

---

<sup>3</sup> Ms. Luzak actually had more evidence in her favor for this repeat summary judgment motion than in the prior summary judgment action, as discussed below, especially related to the testimony of attorneys Neill McBryde and John Jolley.

<sup>4</sup> Ms. Luzak, in the interests of economy and efficiency, incorporated all of her responses, memoranda, arguments, affidavits, and exhibits filed September 28, 2020 in response to Ms. Barringer's first summary judgment motion denied by Judge Mullen on November 4, 2020 into her response to Ms. Barringer's second set of summary judgment motions on the second and third causes of action that Ms. Luzak submitted to the trial court on August 6, 2021 along with eight additional exhibits. Ms. Luzak's memorandum in the second set of summary judgment motions addressed the relevant issues in part by reference to the filings in the first summary judgment motion, including exhibit references. Included in Ms. Luzak's filed exhibits from the first summary judgment motion and incorporated into her response to the second summary judgment motions were 40 exhibits of estate planning related documents showing the constant, unchanging pattern of equal treatment with the frequent participation of and no resistance from Ms. Barringer, 26 medical-related documents showing Paul Barringer's mental problems and decline, affidavits from Hampton Luzak and her husband Kevin Luzak (former CEO of CFRC) showing Paul Barringer's unchanging intent for equal treatment and the lack of any resistance from Ms. Barringer, affidavits from estate planners Richard Allen and James Hardin (deposed by Ms. Barringer) debunking statements made by McBryde, communications from Defendant Randy Light and from those occupying positions as officer, director, and general

Luzak failed to demonstrate even a mere scintilla of evidence in support of the claims on which summary judgment was granted. Judge Mullen, on the other hand, specifically pointed out in her order dated November 4, 2020 that “there is evidence in support of Ms. Luzak’s two causes of action at issue in the summary judgment motion, creating a genuine issue of material fact for jury determination.” Ms. Luzak certainly had not withdrawn any of her evidence, so the genuine issues of material fact on both causes of action that existed on November 4, 2020 still existed on August 20, 2021.<sup>5</sup>

Moreover, Judge Bonds’ order expressly identifies evidence that does create a genuine issue of material fact that precludes summary judgment. On page 6 of the order granting summary judgment, Judge Bonds stated: “At most, these documents suggest that, during a certain time period, Mr. and Mrs. Barringer treated their children equally in the past and intended or planned to treat them (sic) children equally with respect to certain assets in the future.” (Emphasis added).

Similarly, the trial judge’s analysis of S.C. Code §62-2-701 suggests that the fact of the reciprocal wills of the Barringers supposedly served as the only evidence of contractual intent, even while acknowledging a page earlier evidence that did create a genuine issue of material fact. Ms. Luzak has never argued, as implied in the trial judge’s order, that the 1998 reciprocal

---

counsel of the company, and excerpts from Ms. Barringer’s deposition. Also included in Ms. Luzak’s exhibits for the second set of summary judgment motions were additional affidavits from Hampton Luzak and Kevin Luzak providing evidence of the lack of intent by Paul Barringer to give Ms. Barringer a power over voting stock, the existence of a contract not to exercise any such power of appointment, and a promise not to exercise any such power of appointment; in addition, Ms. Luzak included excerpts of the depositions of McBryde and Jolley that impeached their recollection and reliability. In opposition, Ms. Barringer *failed to provide any personal affidavit* to dispute any of the facts shown by Ms. Luzak’s evidence in either set of summary judgment motions. Unless otherwise specified, all references herein to exhibits (e.g., “Ex. \_\_\_\_” or “Ex. \_\_\_\_, Attchm’t \_\_\_\_”) shall be to the documents submitted to the trial court by Ms. Luzak as part of her summary judgment responses of September 28, 2020 and August 6, 2021.)

<sup>5</sup> Judge Bonds’ order focused solely on “documents” as evidence, ignoring the testimony of witnesses on these very issues.

wills constituted the sole evidence of a contract or promise. Ms. Luzak produced multiple examples of other indications of decedent's intent in addition to those reciprocal wills. The court necessarily had to ignore all of this evidence in order to grant summary judgment based solely on what "the documents" showed. In short, the trial judge opted to *weigh* the evidence instead of simply looking to see if evidence existed (by inference or otherwise) to support Ms. Luzak's claims.

Judge Bonds cited two cases as authority for being able to consider again the exact same summary judgment motion denied by Judge Mullen. The first, *Weil v. Weil*, 299 S.C. 84, 382 S.E.2d 471 (Ct. App. 1989), is clearly inapposite. In his order, Judge Bonds quoted a sentence from *Weil* that demonstrates that it is inapposite: "[A] judge deciding a case on the merits is not bound by a prior order of another judge denying summary judgment." *Id.* at 89, 382 S.E.2d at 473. In *Weil*, a family court judge issued an order after a merits hearing with testimony, despite an earlier ruling from another judge denying summary judgment. Unlike the present case, the party in *Weil* was not seeking two bites of the summary judgment apple. Although Ms. Luzak in this case is confident she would prevail if given the opportunity to have a trial, she understands that a jury may disagree with her arguments at trial; however, Judge Bonds' summary judgment order, coming to the opposite conclusion of Judge Mullen, precludes Ms. Luzak from even having a trial, unlike *Weil*. Judge Mullen's denial of the prior summary judgment motion would have allowed Ms. Luzak to have a trial — regardless of the outcome. The second cited case, *Smith v. Breedlove*, 377 S.C. 415, 662 S.E.2d 67 (2008), did allow a second summary judgment, two years after the first, when substantial discovery occurred after the first summary judgment. Importantly, in *Breedlove*, no depositions had been taken before the first summary judgment. Summary judgment prior to completion of discovery is inappropriate. *Gionan v. Tenet*

*Healthsystems of Hilton Head Inc.*, 383 S.C. 48, 677 S.E.2d 32 (Ct. App. 2005). At the second summary judgment motion in *Breedlove*, discovery had been completed.

In contrast, Judge Mullen ordered that a material issue of fact existed. That material issue of fact did not disappear by the time of the second summary judgment, nor did the three depositions cited by Judge Bonds eliminate any issue of material fact or reduce the evidence in Ms. Luzak's favor to less than a scintilla. In fact, the depositions created additional genuine issues of fact and further evidence of the facts that were disputed at the time of Judge Mullen's order.

As discussed more fully below, the deposition of Neil McBryde, who drafted the 1998 wills and trusts of the Barringers, was devastating to Ms. Barringer.<sup>6</sup> He had filed two sworn affidavits for the first summary judgment motion, and his deposition testimony contradicted his sworn affidavits as well as numerous other facts asserted by Ms. Barringer — not to mention calling into question his recollection and reliability. Thus, McBryde's testimony added nothing to Ms. Barringer's existing evidence from the prior summary judgment, but weakened the facts Ms. Barringer had relied on in the first summary judgment motion, therefore adding to the dispute over material facts at the time of the instant summary judgment.

As Judge Bonds noted, both parties submitted deposition testimony from John Jolley, who had nothing to do with the 1998 documents: that both parties submitted excerpts from his deposition further demonstrates that the "additional discovery" created more issues of fact, not fewer. The third deposition cited by Judge Bonds was that of Kevin Luzak, but the Court did not

---

<sup>6</sup> Ms. Barringer's arguments, as well as Judge Bonds' order, focused on the 1998 estate planning documents, even though (a) Judge Price granted respondent Merrill Light's motion for summary judgment as to the validity of Mr. Barringer's February 28, 2012 Will and Trust (appeal pending at Case No. 2021-000837) and (b) Respondents additionally continue to assert the validity of Mr. Barringer's purported Wills and Trusts executed in 2014 and 2015, either of which would revoke any earlier Will and Trust, including the 1998 documents.

indicate how or why his deposition made a difference. Kevin and Hampton Luzak had submitted to the trial court three separate affidavits<sup>7</sup> – one each for Ms. Barringer’s first summary judgment motion, Merrill Light’s first summary judgment motion, and Ms. Barringer’s second summary judgment motion – all of which provided evidence that would defeat a summary judgment motion.

One other issue raised by the *Breedlove* case was the confirmation that, in a summary judgment, a “trial court, must view all ambiguities, conclusions, and all inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party....” Judge Bonds provided no indication in his order that he did so.<sup>8</sup> Judge Bonds failed to consider the rule that, even if the facts are undisputed (which Ms. Luzak does not acknowledge), summary judgment is inappropriate if the conclusions or inferences of fact to be drawn from those undisputed facts are disputed. *Hoard v. Roper Hospital*, 377 S.C. 503, 661 S.E.2d 113 (Ct. App. 2008).

Ms. Luzak has contended throughout this litigation that Paul Barringer never intended to give Ms. Barringer the power to appoint such voting stock and, even if his valid estate planning documents conveyed such a power, then Ms. Barringer cannot exercise any such power because she entered into a valid contract agreeing not to exercise any such power of appointment, as to

---

<sup>7</sup> Judge Bonds’ order mistakenly states that neither Kevin Luzak’s affidavit nor Hampton Luzak’s affidavit “suggest that a promise was made during [family] meetings . . .” (ROA Vol. I, p. 68). All of their affidavits do exactly that. Under *Chapman*, discussed below, a promise can be inferred, even from silence. The affidavits, inter alia, aver that Ms. Barringer never indicated that she would do anything other than comply with Paul Barringer’s intentions for equal control of his company. (ROA Vol. XI, pp. 4617-25). This alone satisfied the requirement of *Chapman*. The affidavits of the Luzaks filed in response to the three aforementioned summary judgment motions are hereafter referred to as “Affid. of \_\_\_\_\_. Luzak filed \_\_\_/\_\_\_/202\_\_\_.”

<sup>8</sup> In his order, Judge Bonds referred to a post-hearing email submitting four documents previously submitted. Ms. Luzak notes that these documents were submitted because she understood that Judge Bonds had requested them at the hearing.

the voting stock, and/or she made an enforceable promise in a fiduciary or confidential relationship not to exercise any such power of appointment, and/or she was estopped.<sup>9</sup>

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- 1. Did the trial court err in ruling by summary judgment that decedent Paul B. Barringer gave Defendant Merrill Barringer a special testamentary power of appointment over controlling voting stock in his legacy company?**
- 2. Did the trial court err in ruling by summary judgment that Defendant Merrill Barringer was not precluded from exercising any special testamentary power of appointment over controlling voting stock in the legacy company because of a promise related to a fiduciary and/or confidential relationship?**
- 3. Did the trial court err in ruling by summary judgment that Defendant Merrill Barringer was not precluded from exercising any special testamentary power of appointment over controlling voting stock in the legacy company because of promissory and/or equitable estoppel?**
- 4. Did the trial court err in ruling by summary judgment that there was insufficient evidence that Defendant Merrill Barringer was precluded from exercising any special testamentary power of appointment over controlling voting stock in the legacy company due to a contract not to revoke her 1998 will which did not exercise any such power — *i.e.*, due to a contract not to exercise any special testamentary power of appointment over voting stock?**
- 5. Did the trial court err in ruling by summary judgment despite the inability to obtain testimony from Defendant Merrill Barringer?**

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

These cases<sup>10</sup> center on the undisclosed transfer of controlling stock in CFRC from the revocable trust of the ailing Paul Barringer<sup>11</sup> to Merrill Light's revocable trust in late 2012,

---

<sup>9</sup> Despite the court's questioning the ability of Ms. Luzak to assert alternative theories about the existence of the power of appointment and, if so, about a promise not to exercise it, she is certainly entitled to pursue alternate theories, all stemming reasonably from the same set of facts. See Rule 8(a), SCRCP ("Relief in the alternative or of several different types may be demanded.")

<sup>10</sup> While four (4) different lawsuits were filed, the cases were designated as complex and assigned to Judge Carmen Mullen, who consolidated the cases. (ROA Vol. I, pp. 7-11 and 20-24).

thereby giving Ms. Light control over the corporation. Also at issue in this case has been the validity of the Will and Revocable Trust of Paul Barringer<sup>12</sup> executed on December 4, 1998 and the purported new Wills and re-stated Trusts dated February 28, 2012, July 20, 2012,<sup>13</sup> June 12, 2014, and February 5, 2015. Ms. Luzak seeks damages from her sister, defendant Merrill Light, and her sister's husband, defendant Randy Light, for the improper transfer of controlling stock and other assets from Paul Barringer's name pursuant to claims for fraud, conversion, quantum meruit/unjust enrichment, breach of fiduciary duty, intentional interference with inheritancy and gifts, and civil conspiracy. Ms. Luzak also seeks to unwind the putative transfers and estate planning documents of Paul Barringer from February 28, 2012 and afterwards. Ms. Luzak further seeks a constructive and/or resulting trust over misappropriated property resulting from the stock transfer of her father's shares in CFRC to Defendant Merrill Light, rescission of the stock transfer, and other related relief. (ROA Vol. I, pp. 213-85). In addition, Ms. Luzak asserts claims to set aside amendments to the Will and Revocable Trust of Paul B. Barringer on the grounds of undue influence committed by Merrill and Randy Light on Paul Barringer, lack of mental capacity of Paul Barringer, and other related causes of action.<sup>14</sup>

---

<sup>11</sup> Mr. Barringer's first medical records on this topic were dated December, 2011, when he reported to his physician that he had been suffering from cognitive difficulty for "the last one or two years." (ROA Vol. V, p. 2103).

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