**RECEIVED**

MAY 27 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable Robert Bonds, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-001337

IN THE MATTER OF: Estate of Paul Brandon Barringer, II

Hampton Barringer Luzak ..... Appellant,

v.

Merrill U. Barringer ..... Respondent.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

J. Ashley Twombly, Esquire  
S.C. Bar #72916  
Lee Anne Walters, Esquire  
S.C. Bar #74984  
TWENGE + TWOMBLY LAW FIRM  
311 Carteret Street  
Beaufort, SC 29902  
(843) 982-0100  
[twombly@twlawfirm.com](mailto:twombly@twlawfirm.com)

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

**VI. The trial court properly held that the denial of Mrs. Barringer's previous motion for partial summary judgment did not mandate the denial of her later-filed motions for partial summary judgment that were filed after the parties conducted additional discovery.**

On March 20, 2020, Mrs. Barringer filed a motion for partial summary judgment on Luzak's second and third causes of action. On November 4, 2020, Judge Carmen Mullen denied the motion in a one-paragraph order. (November 4, 2020 Order, R. pp. 29-31.) Judge Mullen's Order does not discuss the facts of the case, identify any genuine issues of material fact that existed with respect to Luzak's claims, or otherwise provide any substantive analysis. (*See id.*) After Judge Mullen issued this Order, the parties conducted extensive additional discovery, including taking more than a dozen depositions. On February 19, 2021, Judge Mullen recused herself from this litigation.

In June 2021, Mrs. Barringer filed new motions for partial summary judgment on Luzak's second and third causes of action. On July 30, 2021, Luzak filed her own motion for summary judgment on Luzak's second and third causes of action. (Luzak Mot. Summ. J., R. pp. 4081-4084.) On August 20, 2021, Judge Robert Bonds granted Mrs. Barringer's motions and denied Luzak's motion, issuing the Order that is the subject of this appeal. (Orders, R. pp. 55-72.)

In her Brief, Luzak argues that, even if the Judge Bonds determined that Mrs. Barringer is entitled to summary judgment on Luzak's second and third causes of action, the trial court was not allowed to grant Mrs. Barringer summary judgment, and instead was required to hold a trial on these two causes of action, because of Judge Mullen's one paragraph Order. Luzak also argues

that the specific language of Judge Mullen’s Order—which states, without any elaboration or citation, that “there is evidence in support of Ms. Luzak’s two causes of action at issue in the summary judgment motion, creating a genuine issue of material fact for jury determination”—prohibited Judge Bonds from granting Mrs. Barringer’s motions. Luzak’s argument is contrary to the law and common sense.

First, to the extent Luzak relies on the specific language of Judge Mullen’s Order as the basis for her argument, the Court should reject her argument as untimely and procedurally improper. *Johnson v. Sonoco Prod. Co.*, 381 S.C. 172, 177, 672 S.E.2d 567, 570 (2009) (“An issue may not be raised for the first time in a motion to reconsider.”). In her memorandum in opposition to Mrs. Barringer’s motions for summary judgment, Luzak conceded that a second motion for summary judgment could be filed by Mrs. Barringer on the same issue for which summary judgment had previously been denied so long as Mrs. Barringer could point to “new evidence.” (*See* Memo. Opp., p. 1, R. p. 4600 (arguing that Mrs. Barringer “has no new evidence,” but not arguing that the Court cannot consider the merits of Mrs. Barringer’s motions because of the specific language in Judge Mullen’s Order).) In support of this argument, Luzak relied on South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 43(1), which applies only when a second motion is filed “upon the same state of facts” as a prior motion. (*See id.*, p. 2, R. p. 4601 (relying upon Rule 43(1)).) In her motion to reconsider, however, Luzak argued for the first time that, even if new evidence exists, and regardless of whether Rule 43(1) applies, the specific language contained in Judge Mullen’s November 4, 2020 Order prohibited this Court from granting Mrs. Barringer’s subsequent motions for summary judgment. (*See* Mot. Recons., p. 1, R. p. 5191.)

Luzak cannot raise this new argument for the first time in a motion to reconsider. *Johnson*, 381 S.C. at 177, 672 S.E.2d at 570.<sup>20</sup>

Moreover, Luzak's new argument fails on the merits. Luzak argues that, once a trial judge denies a motion for summary judgment—even where, as in this case, the prior judge subsequently recused herself and the Order denying summary judgment does not specifically identify any genuine issues of material fact—summary judgment may never be granted later in the case, even after additional discovery takes place. This is the opposite of the law. The test in South Carolina to decide whether one circuit judge may change a ruling made by a prior circuit judge in the same case and on the same issue is whether the original determination constitutes the law of the case. *See Shirley's Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union*, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.E.2d 778, 785 (2013). Because denials of motions to dismiss and summary judgment are unquestionably not the law of the case, this rule does not apply to a denial of summary judgment. That is precisely why this Court has ruled, “[A] judge deciding a case on the merits is not bound by a prior order of another judge denying summary judgment. If the law were otherwise, a party could never obtain relief from an erroneous order denying summary judgment since orders denying summary judgment are never appealable, not even after final judgment.” *Weil v. Weil*, 299 S.C. 84, 89, 382 S.E.2d 471, 473 (Ct. App. 1989).

Further, even under Rule 43(1), a denial of summary judgment may be revisited by a subsequent circuit judge when the state of facts has changed. *See, e.g., Smith v. Breedlove*, 377 S.C. 415, 662 S.E.2d 67 (2008) (“The fact that a different trial judge previously denied a motion for summary judgment does not preclude the moving party from renewing its motion once new

---

<sup>20</sup> Of course, Luzak's new argument—that the language in Judge Mullen's prior Order ruling that there are issues of fact for “jury determination” precludes any effort to revisit summary judgment on these claims—is belied by the fact that Luzak also filed for summary judgment on the same claims months after Judge Mullen's Order.

evidence is gathered.”); *Dorrell v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 312, 325, 605 S.E.2d 12, 18 (2004) (“That a different trial judge previously denied the motion did not preclude [Defendant] from renewing its motion once new evidence came to light.”); *PPG Indus., Inc. v. Orangeburg Paint & Decorating Ctr., Inc.*, 297 S.C. 176, 183, 375 S.E.2d 331, 334 (Ct. App. 1988) (rejecting the argument that a trial judge erred by granting summary judgment after previously denying summary judgment and holding: “A trial judge, until final judgment, controls the trial of the case before him, and as a general rule may amend, correct, modify, or otherwise change its findings of fact and conclusions of law before entry of judgment or decree.”).

In *Breedlove*, the South Carolina Supreme Court held that, where one trial judge previously denied summary judgment, a different trial judge may grant summary judgment after additional discovery takes place, *regardless of whether the new discovery is favorable to the moving party*.

Contrary to Smith’s contentions, it does not matter that Smith conducted the discovery or that some of the evidence was arguably favorable to Smith. The rule requires a different “set of facts,” which were established due to the substantial amount of discovery that occurred after *Breedlove*’s first summary judgment motion. Accordingly, the circuit court did not err in hearing *Breedlove*’s second motion for summary judgment after discovery had taken place.

*Breedlove*, 377 S.C. at 421, 661 S.E.2d at 70–71.<sup>21</sup>

Here, it is undisputed that the parties conducted significant additional discovery between Judge Mullen’s Order denying summary judgment and Judge Bonds’ Order granting Mrs.

---

<sup>21</sup> Luzak argues that *Breedlove* is distinguishable because, in that case, “no depositions had been taken before the first summary judgment.” (Luzak Br. at 5.) But, in *Breedlove*, the Court did not hold that a trial court may consider a second motion for summary judgment only where the first motion was denied based on the absence of any discovery. Rather, the Court held that a trial court may consider a second motion for summary judgment where, as here, it is based on a different “set of facts.” See *Breedlove*, 377 S.C. at 421, 661 S.E.2d at 70–71.

Barringer's later-filed motions for summary judgment. This additional discovery included the depositions of the following witnesses: Neill McBryde, who represented Mr. and Mrs. Barringer in the preparation and execution of their 1998 Wills and Trusts; John Jolley, who represented Mr. and Mrs. Barringer in the preparation and execution of their subsequent wills and trust amendments; Rebecca Bostick, a paralegal who worked with John Jolley; two additional former McNair employees; Luzak's husband, Kevin Luzak, whom Luzak identified as a witness who has evidence of the alleged promise made by Mrs. Barringer to Mr. Barringer; several Coastal Forest Resources Company (CFRC) employees, including Tom Evans, Stephanie Chapman and Travis Bryant; a Rule 30(b)(6) deposition of CFRC; Robert Scully, another attorney who represented Mr. Barringer; Mr. Barringer's former secretary, Pat Harrell; and Mr. Barringer's primary physician for decades, Dr. Paul Long. Thus, Mrs. Barringer's motions for summary judgment filed on June 14, 2021, were based on a different state of facts from the previously denied motion, and the trial court therefore properly considered Mrs. Barringer's motions on the merits.

Luzak also argues that the trial court's Order granting summary judgment fails to explain how the discovery that occurred after Judge Mullen's Order "made a difference" in the summary judgment analysis. (Luzak Br., pp. 6-7.) But the South Carolina Supreme Court specifically held in *Breedlove* that it does not matter whether the additional discovery after denial of summary judgment is favorable to the non-moving party; a subsequent trial judge may revisit a denial of summary judgment so long as a new set of facts exists at the time the new motion for summary judgment is filed. *See Breedlove*, 377 S.C. at 421, 661 S.E.2d at 70-71. Luzak is asking this Court to create a new requirement for judges deciding a second motion for summary judgment to review how subsequent discovery undertaken would have affected the original order denying summary judgment, and this Court should decline to do so. In any event, Judge Bonds could not

have explained how his analysis of the new facts relating to Mrs. Barringer's motion changed from the analysis of the facts in Judge Mullen's Order because Judge Mullen's Order did not specify the facts that existed at that time.<sup>22</sup> Notably, if a trial judge granting summary judgment after a prior trial judge denied summary judgment were required to explain the ways in which the analysis had changed, every judge denying summary judgment would be required to make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law to give a subsequent judge the opportunity to revisit summary judgment. But South Carolina law is clear that, in denying motions for summary judgment, a trial judge is not required to make *any* findings of fact or conclusions of law. *Watson v. Underwood*, 407 S.C. 443, 457, 756 S.E.2d 155, 163 (Ct. App. 2014) (“[I]t is unnecessary to make findings of fact and conclusions of law in denying motions for summary judgment.”).

**VII. The Court should reject Luzak's argument that summary judgment is not proper because Luzak did not have the opportunity to depose Mrs. Barringer a second time.**

As her final argument, Luzak argues that the trial court should have denied Mrs. Barringer's motion for summary judgment because the trial court previously denied Luzak's motion to re-depose Mrs. Barringer after Mrs. Barringer produced her estate planning documents. (Luzak Br. at 49-50.) The Court should reject this argument for several independent reasons.

First, Luzak raised this argument to Judge Bonds for the first time in her motion to reconsider. (*See generally* Luzak Opp. Mot. Summ. J., R. pp. 4600-4615 (failing to raise this argument); *see also* Mot. Reconsider, p. 22, R. p. 5212 (raising this argument for the first time).) Thus, this argument is not preserved for appellate review, and this Court should not consider it.

---

<sup>22</sup> For example, Judge Mullen may have relied on Luzak's husband's affidavit filed November 9, 2020 (R. pp. 3489-3514) suggesting the existence of a contract or promise; however, his subsequent deposition conclusively established that he had no such evidence. (Kevin Luzak Dep. 481:11-482:11, R. pp. 6878-6879.)

*Johnson*, 381 S.C. at 177, 672 S.E.2d at 570 (“An issue may not be raised for the first time in a motion to reconsider.”). If Luzak contended that she needed to take a second deposition of Mrs. Barringer to fully develop her opposition to Mrs. Barringer’s motions for summary judgment, Luzak was required to submit a Rule 56(f) affidavit or otherwise notify Judge Bonds before the summary judgment hearing of her supposed need for the second deposition. *See Matter of Est. of Smith*, 419 S.C. 111, 120, 796 S.E.2d 158, 162-63 (Ct. App. 2016) (Few, J., concurring) (holding that Rule 56(f) “provides parties an easy mechanism for notifying the circuit court in advance of a scheduled hearing of the party’s need for additional time in which to complete discovery before defending a motion for summary judgment,” and holding that where, as here, “a party seeks additional time, but fails to comply with the Rule setting forth the procedure for requesting additional time, an appellate court should be very hesitant to say the trial court abused its discretion in denying the request”).

Second, Luzak has not appealed the trial court Orders denying her requests to re-depose Mrs. Barringer. (Order dated April 24, 2019, R. pp. 12-14.; Order dated June 14, 2019, R. pp. 15-16.; Order dated June 4, 2020, R. pp. 25-28) The trial court found that any additional deposition of Mrs. Barringer would be “futile and harassing,” and further found that “Plaintiff’s counsel had more than adequate time to depose Mrs. Barringer on [March 15, 2019], and it is obvious from my review of the video and transcript that Mrs. Barringer disclosed everything she knows.” (Order dated June 4, 2020, R. pp. 25-28.) The Court should not permit Luzak to challenge these Orders on appeal without appealing them.

Third, Luzak’s argument fails on the merits. Luzak has not identified any questions that she would have asked Mrs. Barringer in a second deposition, much less questions that she could not have asked in her first deposition. (Luzak Br. at 49-50.) Luzak complains that she did not have Mrs. Barringer’s estate planning documents at the time of Mrs. Barringer’s first deposition, but as

discussed above, the estate planning documents contain no reference to any contract or agreement relating to Mrs. Barringer's power of appointment. Further, the testimony that Mrs. Barringer would have provided if questioned in a deposition about the alleged contract or promise is no mystery because, in her pleadings, Mrs. Barringer has categorically and repeatedly denied the existence of any contract or promise relating to her power of appointment. (See Answer and Counterclaims, ¶¶ 137-40; 142-43, R. pp. 553-584 (denying allegations of a contract or promise and demanding strict proof thereof); *id.*, ¶¶ 191-194, R. pp. 582-583 (Mrs. Barringer alleging in her counterclaims that Luzak's allegations of a contract or promise "are frivolous and exist only in Plaintiff's mind," and alleging that Luzak "has no evidence to support [these] factual allegations"); *see also* Order dated June 4, 2020, p. 2, R. p. 26 (rejecting Luzak's request to re-depose Mrs. Barringer and finding that "Mrs. Barringer has remained steadfast in her assertion that no such agreement exists . . . .")) Notably, Mrs. Barringer's deposition testimony could not possibly assist Luzak in proving a contract or agreement under Section 62-2-701, which requires the alleged contract or its material terms to be proven with a will or other signed writing.

Finally, Luzak was free to ask Mrs. Barringer questions relating to her Contract-Based Claims through interrogatories and requests to admit but did not do so. In fact, neither the word "contract" nor "promise" even appears in Luzak's Barringer II interrogatories or requests to admit.<sup>23</sup>

**VIII. The law prohibiting contracts relating to the use of a power of appointment serves as an additional sustaining ground for the trial court's Order.**

---

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